



ACT 3 – Accelerating CCS Technologies



Sustainable OPEration of post-combustion Capture plants (SCOPE)

Assessment of the Impact of Various Amines on Micro- and Macro-organisms and their Potential Biodegradability in the Ecosystem

Deliverable D3.2

Deliverable no:	D3.2	
WP:	WP3	
Dissemination level:	Public	
Written by:	N. C. Gupta, Anubha Kaushik, Rita Singh, A. K. Patra, Pinaki Sar, Purvil Khakharia	Date: 13 th Feb 2023
Checked by:	Anna Korre	Date: 15 th Feb 2023
Final check by:	Hanne Kvamsdal	Date: 15 th Feb 2023
Issue date:	15 ^h Feb 2023	



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

Version	Author	Partner	Date	Status
V.1	N. C. Gupta, Anubha Kaushik, Rita Singh, A. K. Patra, Pinaki Sar, Purvil Khakharia	GGSIPU, IITKGP, MIPL	30 September 2022	First draft
V.2	N. C. Gupta, Anubha Kaushik, Rita Singh, A. K. Patra, Pinaki Sar, Purvil Khakharia	GGSIPU, IITKGP, MIPL	28 th December 2022	Second draft
V.3	N. C. Gupta, Anubha Kaushik, Rita Singh, A. K. Patra, Pinaki Sar, Purvil Khakharia	GGSIPU, IITKGP, MIPL	6 th February, 2022	Final draft
V.4	N. C. Gupta, Anubha Kaushik, Rita Singh, A. K. Patra, Pinaki Sar, Purvil Khakharia	GGSIPU, IITKGP, MIPL	15 th February, 2022	Final



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

Table of Contents

Т	able of	^c Contents	3
E	xecutiv	e Summary	8
1 Introduction and background		9	
	1.1	Post combustion amine-based CCS technology	9
	1.2	Emissions monitoring in post-combustion capture plants	
	1.2.1	Emission of amines from Post combustion CCS Plants	
	1.2.2	2 Nature and type of amines	
	1.2.3	3 Stability and decomposability of amines	
	1.2.4	Atmospheric formation, degradation, and dispersion of amines	
	1.2.5	5 Photodegradation and hydrolysis of some amines in freshwater environment	
	1.2.6	Deposition, exposure and toxicity of amines	
2	Есо	toxicological effects of amines	15
	2.1	Acute and chronic toxicity of amines	15
	2.2	Toxic effects on marine organisms	16
	2.3	Toxic effects on freshwater fish	16
	2.4	Toxic effects on aquatic invertebrates	
	2.5	Toxic effects of aromatic amines on eukaryotic protists (Ciliates)	
	2.6	Effects of amines on terrestrial plants	23
	2.7	Toxic effects on algae and cyanobacteria	24
	2.8	Bacterial response to amine exposure	
	2.9	Potential Impact of amines on ecosystems	
3	Bio	degradation and biotransformation of nitrosamines and nitramines	29
4	Kno	wledge gaps and research needs	31
5	Conclusions		
R	eferen	ces	



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

List of Figures

Figure 1. The chemical structures of the commonly used amines in CO_2 capture facilities	s 11
Figure 2. The chemical structures of degradation products of amines.	12

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Different types of stable primary and secondary amine compounds	12
Table 2.1 Toxicity of various amines (indicated by LC50 values) to freshwater fish	17
Table 2.2 Chronic toxicity effects of some amines on freshwater fish	18
Table 2.3 Toxicity effects of some amines on aquatic vertebrates.	21
Table 2.4 Chronic toxic effects of some amines on aquatic vertebrates	22
Table 2.5 Toxicity of some amines to the ciliate Tetrahymena thermophila.	23
Table 2.6 Acute toxicity of selected amines on algae and cyanobacteria.	25
Table 2.7 Chronic toxic effects of some amines on algae and cyanobacteria	26
Table 2.8 Acute toxicity of selected amines on bacteria	27



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Definition
AMP	2-Amino-2-methylpropanol
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
ССРМ	Carbon dioxide Capture Plant Mongstad
ССР	Carbon Capture Plant
CCS	Carbon Capture and Storage
СНО	Chinese Hamster Ovary
CL	Critical Load
CL-20	Hexanitrohexaazaisowurtzitane
DIPNA	N,N-diisopropylethyl-N-ethylamine
DEA	Diethanolamine
DEEA	Diethylethanolamine
DGA	Di-glycolamine
DIPA	Di-isopropanolamine
DMNA	dimethylnitramine
DNA	Deoxy-ribonucleic acid
EA	Ethylamine
EC50	Effective Concentration causing 50 % inhibition of growth for an organism population
EIA	Environmental Impact Assessment
EPI Suite [™]	Estimation Program Interface Suite Trademark
GHGs	Green House Gases
GC-MS	Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectroscopy
IC50	Half maximal inhibitory concentration



DocumentDeliverable D3.2Issue date15 Feb 2023Dissemination levelPublic

НМХ	Cyclotetramethylene Tetranitramine
HSE	Health, Safety and Environment
InhR	Inhalation Rate
IR	Ingestion Rate
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
LC50	Median Lethal Concentration of a toxic substance, causing 50 % lethality for a tested organism population
LD50	Median Lethal Dose of a toxic substance causing 50 % lethality for animal population, after specified test duration
LC-MS	Liquid Chromatography - Mass Spectroscopy
LOEC	Lowest Observed Effect Concentration
MAPA	3-amino-1-methylaminopropane
MBBR	Moving bed biofilm reactor
MDEA	Methyldiethanolamine
MEA	Monoethylamine
MEA-NO ₂	2- Nitroaminoethanol
MMA- nitramine	Monomethyl-nitramine
NAs	Nitramines
NDMA	dimethyl nitramine
NILU	Norwegian institute of air research
NDELA	N-nitrosodiethanolamine
NH ₃	Ammonia
NSAs	Nitrosamines
NIPH	Norwegian Institute of Public Health
NMEA	N-Nitrosomethylethylamine



NOx	Nitrogen Oxides
NOEC	No-observed effect concentration
NPz	Nitrosopiperazine
NIVA	Norwegian Institute for Water Research
PCCC	Post Combustion CO ₂ Capture
PEC	Predicted Environmental Concentration
PIPA	Py-Im- polyamide
NOM	Natural Organic Matter
PZ	Piperazine
PZ-NO ₂	1-Nitropiperazine
QSAR	Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationship
RDX	Royal Demolition eXplosive, also known as cyclonite or hexogen (1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine)
REACH	European Regulation for Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and restriction of Chemicals
SD	standard deviations
SO ₂	Sulphur di-oxide
TD50	The median Toxic Dose of a drug or toxin is the dose at which toxicity occurs in 50% of cases
ТСМ	Technology Centre Mongstad
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

Executive Summary

An amine-based capture facility can contribute significantly to the environmental protection and climate action by reducing air pollution and associated carbon emissions. Pre-treatment of the flue gas not only removes 85 to 90% of the CO₂ from an amine-based capture plant, but also reduces by a considerable quantity other harmful flue gases component, including particulate matter, NOx, and SO₂. However, the use of amines for absorbing the carbon dioxide has been reported to raise health concerns although these are not fully understood. The available research indicates that various amines and their allied degradation products may have detrimental impacts on human health including irritation, sensitisation, carcinogenicity, and genotoxicity. These consequences indicated are, however, in the worst-case scenarios, and the potential repercussions depend largely upon the actual amount of amine emissions as well as the types of amines employed in the CO₂ capture. The amines once emitted in the air and deposited in soil, water, or vegetation may have some short- or long-term detrimental impacts on the ecosystem. Some of the amines may be readily degradable, while others are more persistent in the environment.

While the toxicity of the amines has been studied more in the context of human health hazards, there is lack of comprehensive and systematic studies on impacts of the amines and their derivatives on various types of living organisms and ecosystems. The available literature has been reviewed and is presented here. The reported impacts of amines/degradation products, especially nitramine and nitrosamine, on freshwater and marine water fish, aquatic invertebrates, algae, cyanobacteria, bacteria, and terrestrial plants are discussed in terms of acute and chronic toxicity effects. A few studies on biodegradation and biotransformation of amines under different conditions have indicated that certain environmental factors play a significant role, while others are not so important. It is suggested that there is a need to carry out systematic studies on the important amines and their degradation products, which are emitted from post-combustion capture plants under different conditions. The aim would be to understand the potential for toxic impacts and biotransformation in different regions, where ecological and environmental conditions may vary substantially.

Keywords: Amines, CO₂ capture, acute toxicity, chronic toxicity, ecotoxicology, nitramine, nitrosamine, biodegradability



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

1 Introduction and background

Climate change, a global effect caused by CO₂ emissions is a serious threat to the environment. Melting of the glaciers and warming of the oceans and increasing natural disasters throughout the world are considered key indicators of climate change. Such impacts may only be abridged by mitigating the global CO₂ emissions. The resulting demand for CO₂ capture and abatement has accelerated the research for CO₂ capture technologies. Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) is an emerging technology with the potential to lessen greenhouse gases emissions, while facilitating controlled and sustainable use of fossil fuels. It is a process wherein CO₂ generated from the combustion of fossil fuels is separated, captured, transported, compressed, and lastly stored securely over a long period of time.

The CO_2 capture technologies are generally categorised as post-combustion, pre-combustion, oxyfuel CO_2 capture and calcium looping technologies. The post-combustion capture technique, which is the most mature of these technologies, comprises the separation of CO_2 from flue gas components through absorption in an aqueous amine solution. Use of amines for absorption in post-combustion CO_2 capture process may result in emissions of amines through the CO_2 stripped exhaust gas or accidental spills, or as degraded solvent, which may have some environmental impacts that need to be assessed.

The following paragraphs briefly discuss the post-combustion amine-based CCS technology and introduce the background with regards to amine emissions from such facilities and their characteristics as well as their fate, stability and general toxicity.

1.1 Post combustion amine-based CCS technology

Post-combustion CO_2 capture (PCCC) is a method for removing carbon dioxide (CO_2) from flue gas, which is the gas that is emitted from power plants and other industrial facilities that burn fossil fuels. The process involves exposing the flue gas to an aqueous solution of amines, which are organic compounds that contain nitrogen. The CO_2 in the flue gas reacts with the amines to form a soluble carbonate salt. The reaction is reversible, which means that the CO_2 can be recovered by boiling the solution and carbonate salt together in a different column, known as a stripping column. PCCC is an important technology for reducing greenhouse gas emissions, as it allows for the capture and storage of CO_2 that would otherwise be released into atmosphere. It is often used in conjunction with other technologies, such as carbon capture and storage (CCS), to reduce the overall carbon footprint of a facility. However, the release of amines in the environment can cause adverse effects not only on the life of humans but also on the life of plants and other organisms including algae and microbes in the regions where such facilities may operate (Gjernes et al., 2013).



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

1.2 Emissions monitoring in post-combustion capture plants

Emissions to air, in an amine-based carbon dioxide capture plant, are determined by the type of aminesolvent utilised along with operative settings of power plants. In order to recognise and measure nitramines and nitrosamines in emissions and process liquids, sampling and analytical methods are being established on quantifying amine and amine degradation products. This comprises the development of a sampling train that includes iso-kinetic sampling, sample management, conservation, storing and transportation, as well as the use of the analytical techniques (e.g. total nitrosamine analysis, chemiluminescence-based nitrosamine screening method, quantitative techniques for the investigation of specific and group of nitrosamines based on gas chromatography, and the study of nitramines based on liquid chromatography - mass spectrometry LC-MS). Analytical techniques for a wider range of amine compounds are anticipated to advance, as more specialised ones are discovered or manufactured for use in post-combustion capture facilities. The total amines analysis is useful for measuring unidentified amine compounds in emissions and in solvent samples collected.

1.2.1 Emission of amines from Post combustion CCS Plants

Recently, some new technologies have also been developed in which the solvents used for CO₂ capture are frequently a mixture of several different amines. This includes MDEA-piperazine blends, MEA-piperazine blends, triethylene tetramine and blends of N-methyldiethanolamine. For numerous new amine-based technologies in development, the amine mixture is not known because the solvent composition is considered intellectual property and, thus, company secret for respective manufacturers.

The amines used for CO_2 capture are recycled, but a minor portion of the amines are either degraded or emitted into the air. Through the atmospheric formation pathway, the amines and their transformation products are directly introduced to the nearby environment. This happens due to inevitable release of volatile amines along with flue gas, as is the case in CO_2 capture plants.

1.2.2 Nature and type of amines

Generally, amines are classified as primary, secondary, or tertiary amines, provisional on whether one, two or three of the hydrogen atoms in ammonia (NH₃) have been substituted via organic groups.

Amines can be manufactured artificially in factories for use in different industrial process or they can be found naturally in the environment. Alkaloids are a type of naturally occurring amine that are found in certain nature (plants) and have a variety of physiological effects. Some examples of alkaloids include caffeine, nicotine and morphine. Catecholamine neurotransmitters, such as dopamine, epinephrine, and norepinephrine, are also examples of amines that play important roles in human body. These neurotransmitters are involved in the regulation of various physiological processes, including mood and movement. Histamine is another example of a naturally occurring amine that is found in most animal tissues. It functions as a local chemical mediator and plays a role in immune system function, as well as in the regulation of cardiovascular and gastrointestinal functions.

Aniline and a number of other amines are important industrial chemicals which used in the manufacturing of fibres, rubbers, dyes and variety of products.

	Document	Deliverable D3.2
SCOPE	Issue date	15 Feb 2023
	Dissemination level	Public

Monoethanolamine (MEA), methyldiethanolamine (MDEA), 2-Amino-2- methylpropanol (AMP), Piperazine (PIPA), diglycolamine (DGA), diethanolamine (DEA), and di-isopropanolamine (DIPA) are all examples of amines that are commonly used in carbon capture technologies (Figure 1). The specific properties of each amine, such as its chemical stability, CO₂ absorption capacity, and ability to regenerate can affect its suitability for use in different CO₂ capture applications. Monoethanolamine (MEA) is a commonly used amine in CO₂ absorption due to its high CO₂ cyclical capacity, high reactivity and low cost. However, amines like MEA can react and oxidise in the presence of sunlight to form by-products such as nitrosamines, nitramines, aldehydes and amides. These compounds are known to be toxic and carcinogenic to humans at very low concentrations, and exposure to them can have harmful effects on human health (Rusin & Stolecka, 2016).



Figure 1. The chemical structures of the commonly used amines in CO₂ capture facilities.

1.2.3 Stability and decomposability of amines

Independent of the type of amine(s) used, degradation processes inside the capture plant may produce small and fugitive amines (Norling et al., 2022). Because of their high-water solubility and low soil sorption potential, nitrosamines (NAs) and nitramines (NSAs) are expected to be transported with local water flow regimes (e.g., overland flow, inter-land flow, rivers, etc) after deposition on the ground (Norling et al., 2022; Gundersen et al., 2017a; Gunnison et al., 2000). Nearby natural drinking water sources, such as lakes, rivers and groundwater, are thought to be at risk of receiving degradation products of amine emissions. When amines are released into the environment, they can undergo chemical reactions and degradation, resulting in the formation of various metabolites and other compounds. Some of these

	Document	Deliverable D3.2	
SCOPE	Issue date	15 Feb 2023	
	Dissemination level	Public	

metabolites may be hazardous and potentially toxic and could pose a risk to human health (cancer), if ingested.

The degradation products of amines, including nitramines, nitrosamines, aldehydes, and amides can be harmful to human health, animals, plants and ecosystems (Figure 2, Table 1.1). For example, nitrosamines are a group of compounds that have been classified as carcinogenic to humans by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC).



Figure 2. The chemical structures of degradation products of amines.

	COMPOUNDS	CAS No.
Amines		
	MEA (Monoethanolamine)	141-43-5
	MDEA (Methyldiethanolamine)	105-59-9
	AMP (2-amino-2-methyl-1-propanol)	124-68-5
	PIPA	110-85-0
	Piperidine	
	Pyrrolidine	
Amides		
	Acetamide	60-35-5
	Formamide	75-12-7
Nitrosamines	N-nitrosodi-n-propylamine	
	N-nitrosopyrrolidine	
	N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA)	62-75-9
	N-nitrosodiethanolamine (NDELA)	1116-54-7
	N-nitrosopiperazine (NPz)	5632-47-3
Nitramines		
	Dimethylnitramine (DMNA)	4164-28-7
	2-Nitroaminoethanol (MEA-NO2)	74386-82-6
	1-Nitropiperazine (PZ-NO2)	42499-41-2
	RDX	121-82-4
	HMX	2691-41-0

Table 1.1 Different types of stable primary and secondary amine compounds.



	Document	Deliverable D3.2
	Issue date	15 Feb 2023
	Dissemination level	Public

Amine-rich wastewater streams generated from the amine-based carbon capture plants can be considered as hazardous wastes due to their potential harmful effects on the environment and human health (Lepaumier et al., 2011; Nurrokhmah et al., 2013; Dong et al., 2019). These wastewater streams are often generated as a result of the degradation of amine-based absorbents used in the carbon capture process, and they may contain a variety of chemicals and contaminants, including carbamate polymers, nitramines, nitrosamines, heat-stable salts (HSS), ammonia and water (Nurrokhmah et al., 2013). These substances have been shown to have negative impacts on microbial, marine, plant and human health, and they may pose a risk to the environment if they are not properly managed and treated.

1.2.4 Atmospheric formation, degradation and dispersion of amines

There is limited experimental information on the atmospheric transformation of amines that are important for CO₂ capture plants. There is also minimal information available on the further degradation and lifetime of the generated hazardous components. The Atmospheric Degradation of Amine programme at the University of Oslo was launched in 2009 and included experimental research at the EUPHORE facility in Valencia, Spain. In the programme, which ran from 2009 to 2011, the potential for the following amines—like MEA, methyl, dimethyl, ethyl, diethyl, trimethyl, triethyl—to create nitrosamines and nitramines was studied. The programme also included the photolysis reaction of nitrosamines and lifespan of nitramines in atmosphere which are important factors to consider in the development of CO₂ capture technologies. In the context of CO₂ capture, QSAR models can be used to identify amines that are likely to be effective at capturing CO₂ from the atmosphere or industrial emissions. QSAR models can predict amine's ability to react with CO₂ and their stability under different conditions, which can help researchers to identify further study and development.

Other research exhibited that while primary amines do not produce nitrosamines, they could do so, in a process or in the environment. Among primary, secondary, and tertiary amines, it was found that the ability to create nitrosamines and nitramines grows in the order of primary amines < secondary amines < tertiary amines. The environmental permit for Technology Centre Mongstad (TCM) and technical qualification amine programme of CCM's likely involve the study of the atmospheric transformation, destruction, and dispersion of these substances. This may include testing to determine how these substances react with other compounds in the atmosphere. For air and drinking water, these values must not be higher than 0.3 ng m⁻³ and 4 ng l⁻¹, respectively.

This is based on the nitrosamine NDMA's toxicity, for what the Norwegian Institute of Public Health (NIPH) advises the permissible limit. Modelling atmospheric chemistry, dispersion, deposition and degradation can help researchers understand how chemical compounds behave in environment and predict their potential impacts on ecosystem. The NILU (Norwegian Institute for Air Research) have developed a range of methods and tools for analysing these chemical compounds in air and drinking water.



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

1.2.5 Photodegradation and hydrolysis of some amines in the freshwater environment

A study by Sorensen et al. (2015) examined the hydrolytic and photolytic degradation of nine nitramines and nitrosamines recognised as probable degradation products of the solvents 2-monoethanolamine and piperazine. According to the study, NAs and NSAs are usually resistant to hydrolysis, whilst nitrosopiperazine and piperazine nitramine both experience degradation up to 50% at 50 °C temperature (pH 7). The study also found that although NAs are photolytically stable, NSAs are degraded quickly in aqueous solution when illuminated under sunlight. The study also found that NDELA (n-nitrosodiethylamine) may be persistent at environmentally relevant concentrations due to competition with natural organic matter (NOM) for photons. Photolysis is an specifically vital pathway for the degradation of nitrosamines as noted by Lee et al. (2005), whereas microbial degradation seems to be an imperative pathway for many nitramines, as reported by Douglas et al. (2009), Poste et al. (2014) and Schaefer et al. (2007). Primary amines, including methylamine, can be taken up by certain aquatic organisms, such as phytoplankton (Balch, 1985), which are tiny plants. Methylamine is also used as osmolytic solute in marine cartilaginous fishes which are a group of fish that includes sharks, rays etc (Hazon et al., 2003). Moreover, monoethanolamine, a common solvent used in CO₂ capture systems, can be used by bacteria and few phytoplankton species (Choi et al., 2012; Garsin, 2010), and has been shown to enhance cell growth in some cases; for example, the green alga named Scenedesmus sp. display at MEA concentrations up to 300 mg l⁻¹. The information is part of a larger investigation on how nitrosamines and nitramines behave in both terrestrial and aquatic settings.

1.2.6 Deposition, exposure and toxicity of amines

The majority of amines and amino acids utilised in carbon capture are very water soluble. The equivalent nitrosamines and nitramines are anticipated to behave similarly. Thus, it is expected that they will easily dissolve in rainwater and fog droplets before being precipitated and ending up in lakes, rivers, and other surface water bodies. Nitramines and nitrosamines in the environment were not detectable in the baseline studies carried out by the NIVA and NILU (Aarrestad et al., 2009). However, amines were found in the samples of soil, air moss and river water as a result of surveillance activities (Gundersen et al., 2017a; Gunnison et al., 2000).

According to surveys of the literature, 90 percent of the 300 nitrosamines that have been studied have either caused cancer in lab animals or bioassays. The confirmation of a genotoxic mechanism suggests a non-threshold method to risk assessment. IARC has reviewed the data on 23 nitrosamines that could occur in course of carbon capture and rated two of them as likely to be cancerous to human beings and seven of them as conceivably carcinogenic to human life (Nielsen et al., 2012; Angove et al., 2012; Lee et al., 1978). Substantially less information is available in literature on nitramines, although they are thought to be carcinogenic. None, however, are IARC-classified. Studies on the carcinogenicity of methyl nitramine and dimethyl nitramine in animals have been conducted (Buist et al., 2015). These findings suggest that nitroso dimethylamine, the equivalent nitrosamine, should be regarded as at least six times more toxic than dimethyl nitramine (NDMA).



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

2 Ecotoxicological effects of amines

Ecotoxicological studies are essential for regulatory agencies in assessing possible toxic effects of various chemicals on living organisms through direct exposure or accidental contact. Although the toxic effect of most of the compounds present in amine-based carbon capture plants are known, comprehensive assessment of their impact on ecosystem function, including surface and groundwater resources, have not been carried out methodically.

Nitrosamines (NSAs) and Nitramines (NAs) formed due to the reactions of flue gas nitrogen oxides (NOx) with the amines are apparently carcinogenic in nature and present likely risk for tainting surrounding air and drinking water resources making it necessary to set regulatory emission limits for them (Wagner et al., 2014). However, information on the toxicity of the nitramines is still very inadequate, particularly on plants and animals in various ecosystems (Norling et al., 2022). More comprehensive information is required on ecotoxicological impacts of NAs and NSAs on microbes (algae, cyanobacteria, bacteria) and eukaryotic organisms in terrestrial and aquatic habitats along with fate/biodegradation of NAs and NSAs and their derivatives. The information available in literature on effects of amines on living organisms is briefly reviewed in this section.

2.1 Acute and chronic toxicity of amines

Despite the recycling of the amine solvent throughout the capture process, degradation products, including aliphatic nitramines, whose environmental effects are not well known, are generated and discharged into the environment. The effects of these amines are likely to be different depending on whether exposure is acute or chronic in nature. The use of acute and chronic tests is a common approach for assessing the potential risks of chemicals to aquatic organisms. These tests are used by regulators and scientists to understand the probable impacts of chemicals on aquatic life and to inform decisions about the use and management of these chemicals. Acute toxicity tests measure the effects of a chemical on an organism following a short-term exposure to relatively high concentrations of a chemical. Chronic tests, on the other hand, measure the effects of a chemical on an organism following a long-term exposure to lower and more environmentally realistic concentrations of the chemical. These methods can also improve the trustworthiness of the environmental risk assessment (EIA) for an explicit chemical.

Toxicity tests, toxicological endpoints are generally determined as assessment- based or effect-based. In acute toxicity tests, endpoints are median lethal concentrations (LC50) or median effective concentration (EC50), an estimation of the acute no-observed effect concentration (NOEC), and behavioural observations. LC50 is the lethal concentration of the compound that kills 50% of the test population, whereas EC50 indicates immobilisation or an endpoint other than death. Studies conducted on acute and chronic impacts of various amines on different organisms have been reviewed here. By integrating, acute toxicity and chronic toxicity, a good quality interpretation of the potential toxicity of a vast range of chemicals can be attained. The NOEC is highest concentration at which there is no remarkable influence in comparison to control.



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

In chronic toxicity tests, partial life cycle of the test organism is considered, wherein the endpoints generally considered are percent egg hatchability, survival and growth. Aquatic toxicity tests for different countries vary and USEPA recommends that eight (8) dissimilar families must be tested for marine and freshwater species for the development of water quality criteria (Ecology Center US, 2022). This clearly shows that inadequacy of toxicological data of amines for aquatic organisms is a major constraint on development of regulatory water quality criteria.

2.2 Toxic effects on marine organisms

The initial environmental risk assessment (EIA) for the marine aquatic system was carried out in multitrophic bioassays by Coutris et al. (2015) to investigate the acute and chronic toxicity of two nitramines, dimethylnitramine and ethanolnitramine, which were found to be significant degradation products of amine-based carbon capture emissions. Additionally, a comet assay was modified to include cells from experimentally treated fish in order to study the in-vivo genotoxicity of nitramines (NAs). Both nitramines showed minimal toxicity on using whole organism bioassays. Oysters showed more sensitive reaction to both substances, and in all bioassays, dimethylnitramine consistently exhibited higher toxicity than ethanol nitramine. Dimethylnitramine and ethanolnitramine had no toxic effects at concentrations of 0.08 and 0.18 mg l⁻¹, respectively. The findings of whole organism bioassays and the genotoxicity testing were incongruent; ethanolnitramine was found to be three orders of magnitude more genotoxic than dimethylnitramine. DNA damage was caused by a very low concentration of Ethanolnitramine (1 mg l⁻¹) whereas a much higher concentration of dimethylnitramine (100 mg l^{-1}) caused DNA damage. The mechanisms of genotoxicity for the two compounds were also shown to be different, with DNA strand breaks accounting for over 90% of the genotoxicity of ethanolnitramine and alkali-labile sites causing above 90% of the genotoxicity of dimethylnitramine. Red blood cells from fish subjected to >3 mg l^{-1} ethanolnitramine contained almost no DNA indicating acute genotoxicity.

2.3 Toxic effects on freshwater fish

Acute toxicity: A broad range of acute toxicity in freshwater fish were recorded to the four selected amines as shown in Table 2.1. Maximum sensitivity to MEA was shown by Zebra fish (*Danio rerio*) with the lowest 96h LC50 values (60.3 mg l⁻¹), whereas in adult rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri) the LC50 value was 167 mg l⁻¹, and it was 375 mg l⁻¹ in Western Mosquito fish. In case of AMP, only one study is available indicating toxicity at a concentration greater than 100 mg l⁻¹. Between all selected amines the lowest LC50 values (52 mg l⁻¹) were recorded for carp (Cyprinidae) on exposure to PIPA (Loeb & Kelly, 1963).

Following results of toxicity test on freshwater fish, the LC50 values for the adult carp and western mosquito fish exposed to the amides, formamides and acetamides were very high, ranging from 10,000 mg l^{-1} to 26,300 mg l^{-1} (Juhnke & Luedemann, 1978; Wallen et al., 1957). Blue gill (Lepomis macrochirus) was found to be very sensitive and on exposure to N-nitroso-diphenylamine, it showed 24h LC50 of 5.85 mg l^{-1} and even lower LC50 value of 3.6 mg l^{-1} on exposure to RDX (US EPA, 1978). Based on the available studies, the acute toxicity of the amines and their degradation products for freshwater fish may be ordered as nitramines > nitrosamines > amines > amides (Table 2.1).



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

Compound	Fish name			EC/LC50 (mg l ^{-:}	¹)		Reference
		NOEC	24h	48h	72h	96h	
Amines							
MEA	Goldfish (<i>Carassius</i> auratus)		190			170	Birdie et al., 1979
	Western mosquito fish (<i>Gambusia</i> <i>affinis</i>)		375	360	350	338	Verschueren, 2001
	Rainbow Trout (<i>Salmo</i> gairdneri)		175	150		167	Mayer et al., 1986
	Zebra fish (Danio rerio)	20				60.3	Groth et al. 1993
PIPA	Carp (Family Cyprinidae)				52-159		Loeb & Kelly, 1963
	Guppy (Poecilia reticulata)	100				>100	Web Link 1
Amides							
Acetamide	Western mosquito fish (Gambusia affinis)		26,300	26,300		13,300	Wallen et al. 1957
	Carp (Family Cyprinidae)			10,000			Juhnke & Luedemann, 1978
Formamide	Fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas)					5,000-10,000	EPA, 2004. doc: 201- 15159A
Nitrosamines							
NDPA	Blue gill (<i>Lepomis</i> macrochirus)		5.85				US EPA, 1978
	Mummichog (Fundulus heteroclitus)		3,300				Ferraro et al., 1977
NDMA	Rainbow Trout (<i>Salmo</i> gairdneri)					1,770	Verschueren, 1996
	Fathead minnow					940	Draper & Brewer, 1979

Table 2.1 Toxicity of various amines (indicated by LC50 values) to freshwater fish.

This document contains proprietary information of the SCOPE project. All rights reserved. Copying of (parts) 17 of this document is forbidden without prior permission.

SCOPE	Document	Deliverable D3.2
	Issue date	15 Feb 2023
	Dissemination level	Public

	(Pimephales promelas)				
NDEA	Fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas)			775	Draper & Brewer, 1979
Nitramines					
RDX	Blue gill (Lepomis macrochirus)			3.6	Bentley et al., 1977
	Zebrafish (Danio rerio)	13-15		23-26	Mukhi et al., 2005
нмх	Fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas)			15-32	Bentley et al., 1977

Web link 1. http://www.ethyleneamines.com/NR/rdonlyres/0F711045-D7C1-4979-8286-032FF5C01636/0/PIP Anh.pdf

Chronic Toxicity: In the case of amines, the chronic toxicity data was obtainable only for MDEA and PIPA. Bieniarz et al. (1996) observed that there was a decrease in egg hatching when exposed to 0.5 mg l^{-1} or higher concentration of MDEA. There was no influence on the activity of fish, named as Kuhlia sandvicensis, up to concentration 20 mg l^{-1} , when exposed to PIPA.

It is well known that exposure to certain chemicals can have negative effects on the health of aquatic organisms. A study on Oncorhynchus mykiss (rainbow trout) exposed to NDMA through diet, for a period of 1 year showed chronic toxicity. By the lowermost concentration of 200 mg kg⁻¹ NDMA, increase in hepatocellular carcinomas was observed.

Similarly, chronic toxicity was observed in Fathead minnows (Pimephales promelas) exposed to concentrations of CL-20, a type of nitramine, with an IC50 (inhibition concentration) of 0.2-2.0 mg I^{-1} (Hayley et al., 2003; 2007). The growth of Fathead minnows was also affected when they were exposed to chronic concentrations of RDX, with LOEC (lowest observed-effect concentration) values of 5.8 mg I^{-1} (Burton et al., 1994 and Bentley et al., 1977). In addition, a 4-week exposure to RDX concentrations in zebra fish presented an adverse effect on their growth, at concentrations of 1mg I^{-1} . This information is summarised in Table 2.2.

Table 2.2 Chronic toxicity effects of some amines on freshwater fish.



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

Compound	Fish	Toxicological Endpoint	mg l ⁻¹ (*mg kg ⁻¹)	Reference
Amines				
MDEA	Carp (Cyprinidae)	Decrease in egg hatching - LOEC	0.5	Bieniarz et al., 1996
ΡΙΡΑ	Aholehole (Kuhlia sandvicensis)	Behavioural changes (schooling) - NOEC	20	Hiatt et al., 1953
Nitrosamine				
NDMA	Rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss)	52-week exposure – presence of hepatocellular carcinomas - LOEC	*200	Grieco et al., 1978
Nitramines				
CL-20	Fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas)	Growth IC50	0.2-2.0	Hayley et al., 2003; 2007
RDX	Fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas)	Growth effects - early development (LOEC)	5.8	Bentley et al., 1977
		Survival chronic exposure (LOEC)	4.9-6.3	Bentley et al., 1977
	Zebra fish (Danio rerio)	Effects on body weight after 4 weeks (LOEC)	1	Mukhi & Patiño, 2008

2.4 Toxic effects on aquatic invertebrates

Aquatic invertebrates, such as hydra and water fleas are often used as model organisms in basic biological research due to their ease of maintenance in the laboratory. They are also frequently used in ecotoxicological testing to assess the potential effects of chemical on aquatic ecosystems. In these studies, invertebrates are exposed to the test chemical and behavioural changes and mortality are commonly used as endpoint measures. In recent years, there has been an increasing trend towards using aquatic invertebrates in mechanistic and high-throughput screening studies in the fields of neurotoxicology, environmental toxicology, and genetic toxicology. However, very few studies of amine toxicity on aquatic invertebrates have been reported.

Acute effects: In a study on water flea (Daphnia magna), the LC50 concentrations were found to range between 10 -250 mg l⁻¹ for three amine compounds (MEA, AMP, PIPA) with the most toxic effect being on exposure to PIPA. The acute toxicity data for selected amides indicated a broad range of LC50 values of 10,000 mg l⁻¹ for acetamide (Bringmann & Kuhn, 1977) and 13 mg l⁻¹ for formamide on D. magna (Le Blanc & Surprenant, 1983). The quickest response for nitrosamine was reported for an unidentified Cladoceran species, with a 48-hour median lethal concentration of 7.76 mg l⁻¹ subsequent exposure to NDPA (USEPA,1978). For NDMA (nitrosodimethylamine), the 96-hour LC50 values varies from 300 mg l⁻¹ in the amphipod Gammarus limnaeus to 2,250 mg l⁻¹ in the Crayfish Austropotamobius pallipes (Draper & Brewer, 1979 and Alibaud et al., 1985). These values suggest that NDMA is less toxic to Gammus

	Document	Deliverable D3.2
SCOPE	Issue date	15 Feb 2023
	Dissemination level	Public

limnaeus than to Austropotamobius pallipes. For NDEA, the most sensitive species reported was A. pallipes with a LC50 value of 230 mg l^{-1} (Alibaud et al., 1985). As compared to others, the nitramines show distinctly higher acute toxicity to different species of invertebrates. Water flea (Ceriodaphnia dubia) with LOEC value of 6.01 mg l^{-1} was recorded as the most sensitive species on following exposure to RDX. The key information and sources are summarised in Table 2.3.

Chronic effects: The chronic toxicity of particular amines and their derivative products to marine invertebrates are shown Table 2.4. For formamide, the maximum allowable concentration for chronic testing was found to be 1.2-2.5 mg l⁻¹ for D. magna. Exposure to nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) has been shown to cause degeneration in the antennal gland of Crayfish (Procambarus clarkia) at 200 mg l⁻¹ following exposure for approximately 6 months. At a lower concentration of 100 mg l⁻¹, NDMA caused hyperplasia of the tubular cells in the hepatopancreas (Harshbarger et al., 1971). In other studies, exposure to CL-20 and RDX caused different body growth and reproductive symptoms in the aquatic invertebrate Ceriodaphnia dubia at concentrations ranging from 0.4-2.0 mg l⁻¹ and 4.68 mg l⁻¹, respectively. These findings suggest that these chemicals can have adverse effects on the growth and reproduction of aquatic invertebrates at relatively low concentrations (Hayley et al., 2003 and Peters et al., 1991).



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

Table 2.3 Toxicity effects of some amines on aquatic vertebrates.

Compound	Invertebrate			C/LC50 (I		Reference	
		NOEC	LOEC	24h	48h	96h	
Amines							•
MEA	Water flea (<i>Daphnia magna</i>)			83.6			Bringmann & Kuhn, 1977
	Brown shrimp (Crangon crangon)				100		Brooks, 2008
	Flagellate protozoan (Entosiphon sulcatum)				300		Bringmann & Kuhn, 1980
PIPA	Water flea (Daphnia magna)				10-100		Web Link 1
AMP	Water flea (Daphnia magna)	100			>100		Web Link 2
Amides							•
Acetamide	Water flea (<i>Daphnia magna</i>)			10,00 0			Bringmann & Kuhn, 1977
Formamide	Water flea (Daphnia magna)				500		EPA, 2004. doc: 201-15159A
Nitrosamine							
NDPA	Cladoceran sp.				776		US EPA, 1978
NDMA	Amphipod (Gammarus limnaeus)					300	Draper & Brewer, 1979
	Crayfish (Austropotamobius pallipes)					2,250	Alibaud et al., 1985
	Flatworm (<i>Dugesia</i> dorotocephala)					1,365	Draper & Brewer, 1979
NDEA	Amphipod (Gammarus limnaeus)					500	Draper & Brewer, 1979
	Crayfish (Austropotamobius pallipes)					230	Alibaud et al., 1985
	Flatworm (<i>Dugesia</i> dorotocephala)					1,490	Draper & Brewer, 1979
Nitramines							
RDX	Mussel (Mytilus galloprovincialis)	28.4	>28.4				Brooks, 2008
	Water Flea (<i>Ceriodaphnia</i> dubia)	3.64	6.01				Peters et al., 1991
	Midge (Chironomus tentans)				15-100		Hovatter et al., 1997
нмх	Mussel (Mytilus galloprovincialis)	1.9	>1.9				Brooks, 2008

Web link 1. <u>http://www.ethyleneamines.com/NR/rdonlyres/0F711045-D7C1-4979-8286-032FF5C01636/0/PIP_Anh.pdf</u> Web link 2. <u>http://www.jtbaker.com/msds/englishhtml/a4572.h</u>

This document contains proprietary information of the SCOPE project. All rights reserved. Copying of (parts) 21 of this document is forbidden without prior permission.

SCOPE	Document	Deliverable D3.2
	Issue date	15 Feb 2023
	Dissemination level	Public

Compound	Invertebrate	Toxicological Endpoint	Value	Reference
Amide				
Formamide	Daphnia magna	Maximum allowable	1.2-2.5	Le Blanc & Surprenant,
		concentration for chronic		1983
		toxicity testing		
Nitrosamine				
NDMA	Crayfish	Antennal gland degradation –	200	Harshbarger et al.,
	(Procambarus clarkii)	6 month exposure		1971
	Crayfish	Hyperplasia of tubular cells in	100	Harshbarger et al.,
	(Procambarus clarkii)	hepatopancreas-6 month		1971
		exposure		
Nitramines				
CL-20	Water flea (Ceriodaphnia dubia)	LC50	0.4-2.0	Hayley et al., 2003;
				Hayley et al., 2007
RDX	Water flea (Ceriodaphnia dubia)	7d reproductive effects	4.68	Peters et al., 1991

Table 2.4 Chronic toxic effects of some amines on aquatic vertebrates.

Wagner et al. (2014) studied chronic cytotoxicity and acute genotoxicity of various N-nitrosamines and Nnitramines in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells. The rank order of mutagenicity was found to be Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA)> N-nitrosomorpholine> N-nitrodimethylamine> 1,4-dinitrosopiperazine> N-nitromorpholine> 1,4-dinitropiperazine> N-nitromonoethanolamine> N-nitrosodiethanolamine> Nnitrodiethanolamine. 1-Nitrosopiperazine and 1-nitropiperazine were not mutagenic. Overall, Nnitrosamines were found to be approximately 15-fold more mutagenic than their N-nitramine analogues.

The research suggests that certain N-nitrosamines and N-nitramines may have the potential to cause genetic damage in cells, with N-nitrosamines being more potent than N-nitramines in this regard.

2.5 Toxic effects of aromatic amines on eukaryotic protists (Ciliates)

Amongst the protozoans, Ciliates are the largest and most complex group characterised by two nuclei, a variety of organelles, and a mouth like cytosome. A primary study (Sihtmäe et al., 2010) focussed on the toxicity of aniline and its derivatives on the test protozoan species Tetrahymena thermophila. The EC50 values were determined using Regtox software and the average EC50 values and were calculated based on 3–5 independent experiments as shown in Table 2.5. The study showed that the protozoa were less sensitive towards the anilines than the crustaceans, which makes them a better biosensor species to study the ecotoxicology assessment.



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

Table 2.5 Toxicity of some amines to the ciliate *Tetrahymena thermophila*.

Compound	EC50 (for 24h)
Aniline	358 ±1 80
2-Chloroaniline	252 ± 16
3-Chloroaniline	135 ± 9.0
4-Chloroaniline	36 ± 3.5
3,5-Dichloroaniline	29 ± 2.4

2.6 Effects of amines on terrestrial plants

There is hardly any literature on MEA toxicity on terrestrial plants probably because toxicity study for terrestrial plants has not been present-day problem in marketable use of MEA.

Monoethanolamine (MEA) is a chemical compound that is used in a variety of industrial and commercial applications, including as a supplement for the herbicides and insecticides. In fact, MEA has been reported to stimulate the growth of plants and improve the growth of seedlings (Kloppenburg & Hall 1990a, b). Some studies suggest that MEA is usually absorbed into the phospholipids and stabilises the biomembranes of plant cells in adverse conditions. The exogenously applied MEA helps in stimulate protein synthesis, blossoming (flowering) and advances growth of the seedlings and hence performances as a plant bioregulator (Eckert et al. 1988a, b).

Studies have shown that application of MEA as a foliar spray can have positive effects on the growth and biomass formation of cereal crops such as rye, wheat and barley. In pot experiments, application of MEA at a concentration of 0.02 mol l⁻¹ as a foliar spray increased biomass and grain yields by up to 14 % (Bergmann & Eckert 1990). MEA has also been shown to increase grain yields, particularly on nutrient deprived residual soils. In addition, MEA has been used as a component in foliar fertilizers in ground tests (Feckova et al., 2005)

Studies have revealed that the pre-treatment of sunflower seeds (Helianthus annus) with ethanolamine can enhance seedlings tolerance to surrounding conditions of saline stress during germination (Kogan et al., 2000). Similarly, spraying MEA (at a concentration of 0.5 mg plant⁻¹) on plants shown to decrease the oxidative stress in barley plants, which is caused by weedkillers, by stimulating the cell membranes studied by Mascher et al. (2005). It concludes that MEA and ethanolamine may have the potential to protect plants from stressors, such as high levels of salt or herbicides, and to promote plant growth and development.

Several studies indicated that RDX, a chemical compound, can be taken up by plants, resulting in increased concentrations in the stems and leaves (Harvey et al. 1991). Exposure to RDX has been found to reduce plant biomass and inadequately interrelated with decrease in plant height at concentrations of 100 and 200 mg kg⁻¹ (Simini et al. 1995). Based on these findings, a screening scale for plants and soil at 100 mg kg⁻¹ has been established. No studies have been found that have verified the toxicity of HMX

	Document	Deliverable D3.2
SCOPE	Issue date	15 Feb 2023
	Dissemination level	Public

(Hexamethylenetetramine) to terrestrial plants. Thus, amines may play a stimulatory effect on plant growth.

2.7 Toxic effects on algae and cyanobacteria

Acute toxicity: The acute toxicity of the selected amines and their secondary products to freshwater and marine algae and cyanobacteria is shown in Table 2.6. The acute toxicity of acetamide showed large variations with lowest observed effect concentration (LOEC) was found to be 6,200 mg l⁻¹ for the cyanobacterium (Microcystis aeruginosa) and 10,000 mg l⁻¹ for the green algae (Scenedesmus quadricauda). Most sensitive species to acetamide was the Cryptomonad Chilomonas paramecium, with a 48-hour median lethal concentration (LC50) value of 49 mg l⁻¹ as reported by Bringmann et al. (1980). As compared to other secondary products, nitramines showed significantly higher values of LC50 for algae. For example, the 96-hour LC50 value for the nitramine RDX was found around 3.2 to 10 mg l⁻¹ in M. aeruginosa and S. quadricauda (Hovatter et al., 1997). No toxicity data was reported for nitrosamine compounds.

Chronic effects: For the selected amines and their degradation products, the chronic toxicity data for the algae and cyanobacteria are shown in Table 2.7. It appears that the utmost sensitive species to MEA was Scenedesmus quadricauda (green algae) and have LOEC value of 0.75 mg l⁻¹ after 7-8 days of exposure (Bringmann & Kuhn, 1980; 1978). Other cyanobacteria, such as Anacystis aeruginosa and Microcystis aeruginosa, had similar LOEC values of 1.6 to 2.1 mg l⁻¹ as reported by Bringmann & Kuhn (1978 & 1975). Acetamide had very low toxicity. Many changes were observed in the population and growth of A. aeruginosa and S. quadricauda for the 7 to 8 days exposure and recorded EC50 values of 6,600 mg l⁻¹ and 10,000 mg l⁻¹ for both (Bringmann & Kuhn, 1980; 1978). The highly sensitive species to nitrosamine was the marine green algae (Tetraselmis maculate) which displaying LOEC value of 0.025 mg l⁻¹ and DNA damaged was reported following exposure.

A study by Gundersen et al. (2018) found that MMA- nitramine was more toxic to phytoplankton than the other two nitramines. The researchers tested the ecotoxicity of these compounds by exposing phytoplankton to different concentrations of the nitramines. They found that MMA-nitramine was highly ecotoxic of the three nitramines, with lethal concentrations (LC50 values) that were lower than other two nitramines. The concentration at which 50 % of the population is affected (EC50) for phytoplankton growth was 754 mg l⁻¹ (Brakstad et al., 2011).



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

Table 2.6 Acute toxicity of selected amines on algae and cyanobacteria.

3 Comp ound	4 Algae/Bacteria	5	LOEC	6	EC10	7	EC/LC50	(mg l ⁻¹)	8 Reference
				15min	24h	48h	72h	96h	
Amines									
MEA	Marine algae (Skeletonema costatum)		83.1			198			Sintef Report, 2007
	Green algae (Chlorococcales)	31			70				Krebs, 1991
	Cryptomonad algae (Chilomonas paramecium)					733			Bringmann et. al., 1980
AMP	Marine algae (Skeletonema costatum)		64.8			118.6			Sintef Report, 2007
MDEA	Marine algae (Skeletonema costatum)		72.7			141.4			Sintef Report, 2007
ΡΙΡΑ	Green algae (Selenastrum capricornutum)						>1,000		Web Link 1
Amide									
Acetamide	Green algae (Chlorococcales)		1,000		1,000				Krebs, 1991
	Cryptomonad (Chilomonas paramecium)					49			Bringmann et al., 1980
	Blue-green algae (Microcystis aeruginosa)	6,200							Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978
	Green algae (Scenedesmus quadricauda)	10,00 0							Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978
Nitramine									
CL-20	Green algae (Selenastrum capricornutum)							>3.6	Gong et al., 2004
RDX	Blue-green algae (Microcystis aeruginosa)							3.2-10	Hovatter et al., 1997
	Green algae (Selenastrum capricornutum)							3.2-10	Hovatter et al., 1997
НМХ	Blue-green algae (Microcystis aeruginosa)							>32	Hovatter et al., 1997
	Green algae (Selenastrum capricornutum)							>32	Hovatter et al., 1997

Web link 1. http://www.ethyleneamines.com/NR/rdonlyres/0F711045-D7C1-4979-8286-032FF5C01636/0/PIP_Anh.pdf



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

Table 2.7 Chronic toxic effects of some amines on algae and cyanobacteria.

Compound	Algae/cyanobacteria	Toxicological endpoint	Value (mg l ⁻¹)	Reference
Amines				
MEA	Blue-green algae (Anacystis aeruginosa)	8d growth effect (LOEC)	1.6-2.1	Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978
	Green algae (Scenedesmus quadricauda)	8d growth effect (LOEC)	0.75-0.97	Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978
	Blue-green algae (Microcystis aeruginosa)	8d growth effect (LOEC)	1.6-2.1	Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978
Amides				
Acetamide	Blue-green algae (Anacystis aeruginosa)	8d growth effect (EC50)	6,600	Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978
	Green algae (Scenedesmus quadricauda)	8d population changes (EC50)	10,000	Bringmann & Kuhn, 1980
Nitrosamine				
NDMA	Green algae (Chlamydomonas reinhardtii)	DNA damage (COMET)	1-10	Erbes et al., 1997
	Green algae (Selenastrum capricornutum)	8d growth effect (LOEC)	1-10	Draper & Brewer, 1979
NDEA	Green algae (Selenastrum capricornutum)	8d growth effect (LOEC)	1-10	Draper & Brewer, 1979

2.8 Bacterial response to amine exposure

It comes into view that bacterial response to acute exposure to the monoethanolnitramine (MEA-NO₂) and dimethylnitramine (DMA-NO₂) was evaluated by Gundersen et al. (2014). The study used a bacterial community (natural lake-water) and bacterial culture (pure) to measure the effects of the nitramines on aerobic respiration and metabolic profiling at community-level. It was done with the help of Ecoplates[™] (BIOLOG) for 31-different ecological related carbon substrates. The results showed that MEA-NO₂ repressed the rate of oxygen consumption in the natural water resource (lake water) bacterial community at concentrations above 4 mg l⁻¹, but shown zero effect on the clean culture of Bacillus subtilis. Both nitramines were found to induce shifts in the metabolic profile of the natural lake-water bacterial community. Considering the highly dynamic nature of natural bacterial communities additional testing has been recommended by the authors to acquire a clearer image of bacterial response to the nitramines. The authors also noted that the levels of nitramines that affected bacteria in the study were 1,000 times higher than the estimated emissions from a PCC plant under worst-case situation conditions, and the ultimate environmental concentrations of the nitramines may be influenced by biogeochemical



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

processes, such as soil sorption and biodegradation at any given site (Gundersen et al., 2014). It was suggested that additional testing may be needed to understand the full response of bacteria to these nitramines.

For MEA, the bacterium (Vibrio fischeri) was reported as very sensitive species with a LC50 concentration ranging between 6-39 mg l^{-1} (Table 9). Likewise, lethal concentrations (LC50 values) of 13 and 20 mg l^{-1} were recorded for bacteria Vibrio fischeri on exposure to AMP and PIPA discretely (Sintef report, 2007).

The results from these studies are summarised in Table 2.8.

	-	-	-	-			_		
Compound	Bacteria	LOEC	EC10		EC,	/LC50 (r	ng l⁻¹)		Reference
				15min	24h	48h	72h	96h	
Amines									
MEA	Microtox (<i>Vibrio fischeri</i>)			6-39					Sintef Report, 2007 Libralto et al 2007
АМР	Microtox (Vibrio fischeri)			20					Sintef Report, 2007
	Microtox (Vibrio fischeri)			36					Sintef Report, 2007
PIPA	Microtox (Vibrio fischeri)			13					Sintef Report, 2007
Nitramines									
NDEA	Microtox (Vibrio fischeri)							>3.6	Gong et al., 2004

Table 2.8 Acute toxicity of selected amines on bacteria.

The research group of Gundersen et al. (2018) also investigated the impact of monomethyl, monoethanol and monoethanol – nitramines on the growth of bacterial strains such as Pseudomonas fluorescens and Rhodococcus sp. In this study, it was found that the growth of Rhodococcus sp. was sensitive to monomethyl nitramine (MMA-nitramine) and shown an EC50 value of 157 mg l⁻¹. This suggests that at concentrations above 157 mg l⁻¹, monomethyl nitramine is toxic to Rhodococcus sp. and can inhibit its growth. On the other hand, the growth of Pseudomonas fluorescens was found to be insensitive to any of the tested nitramines, indicating that these compounds have little or no effect on the growth of this particular bacterial strain. It is also worth mentioning that the tenacity of nitramines in the existence of these bacterial strains was determined in this study (Gundersen et al., 2018).

The growth of P. fluorescens was uninfluenced by exposure to MEA-, MMA-, and DMA-nitramine. Furthermore, during the course of the 33-hour trials, P. fluorescens was able to break down 8 -10% of the nitramines. The findings of this study shed light on critical bacterial nitramine response pathways that call for additional research in light of the continued use of CO_2 collection technologies.

A quantitative study by Wagner et al. (2014) used in vitro bioassays to assess the mutagenicity of certain N-nitrosamines and N-nitramines in Salmonella typhimurium, as well as the chronic cytotoxicity and acute genotoxicity of these compounds. The Salmonella assay is a commonly used method for testing the potential mutagenic effects of chemicals. S. typhimurium was found very sensitive to both N-nitrosamines and N-nitramines for Mutagenicity.



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

2.9 Potential Impact of amines on ecosystems

Since amines are nitrogenous compounds, their emissions and depositions near post-combustion capture plants have the potential to influence ecosystems by affecting growth and metabolism of living organisms in various ways depending particularly on the critical load (CL) and background levels of nitrogen in the environment, which varies from place to place. Habitats where the critical load is already increased or on the way to be surpassed, are likely to be largely affected by any emissions of amines. Even small concentrations of amines and their degradation products may, thus, be harmful to the ecosystem. Since nitrate may be formed by biological oxidation of ammonia (nitrification), and high input of ammonia may result in increased fertilisation, it may cause eutrophication of lakes. However, till now there is lack of data on this particular aspect, where nitrogen enrichment might cause ecosystem level impact. Thus, here is a necessity from an experimental perspective to test the impacts of various amines that are used for the CO₂ capture processes on soil and aquatic ecosystems, including changes in the composition and activity of microorganisms. It is essential to carefully evaluate the potential risks of amines to these ecosystems, in order to determine at what concentration they may be harmful (Brooks, 2008).

	Document	Deliverable D3.2		
IDPE	Issue date	15 Feb 2023		
	Dissemination level	Public		

3 Biodegradation and biotransformation of nitrosamines and nitramines

In few studies, including Brakstad et al. (2018) and Brakstad and Zahlsen (2011), selected NSAs and NAs were subjected to aerobic and anaerobic biodegradation using natural lake and river water. At temperature 20°C, NSAs and NAs (20 g l⁻¹) having hydroxyl groups (alkanol) displayed aerobic biotransformation above 10 % after 28-days incubation, whereas 80% biotransformation was reported after a 56d biodegradation. Half-lives of the compounds were found to be 28.5-33.1 days. The biotransformation of N-nitrosodiethanolamine (NDELA) (20 °C; 56 days) at concentrations from 1 g l⁻¹ to 100 g l⁻¹ was not statistically different, but the water sources and temperatures (5-20°C) significantly impacted biotransformation. Alkanol NSAs and NAs underwent anaerobic biotransformation quickly (20°C; 56 days) but not the alkyl compounds. At the same temperature, anaerobic biotransformation was almost similar and faster.

The hydroxyl substituent of alkanol nitrosamines and nitramines was predicted to be more degradable than nitroso- and nitro-substituents through bio-transformation routes. Half-lives were found to increase at low temperature (Brakstad and Zahlsen ,2011). Booth et al. (2014) found that biodegradation was increased for some of the compounds at lower concentrations and extended incubation period.

The study by Norling et al. (2022) aimed to investigate the potential impacts of nitrosamines and nitramines on a catchment-lake system, using a process-based simulation approach. The study focused on a full-scale CO₂ capture facility at the Oslo waste incineration plant in Norway and used previously modelled atmospheric deposition rates of nitrosamines and nitramines as input for the simulation. The study sought to quantify the effects of hydrological and biogeochemical processes and the fate and transport of these amines in the catchment-lake system, and to identify the processes along maximum sensitivity (such as NA biodegradation). The ambiguity in the results was addressed through the use of a probabilistic distribution (Monte Carlo analysis), which incorporated variability in the catchment, lake, and NA and NSA parameter values available in literature. This modelling tool allowed for a site-specific assessment of the potential risks associated with amine-based CO₂ capture and can inform risk assessment and management strategies.

Though biodegradation is identified to be the foremost removal process for nitramines in environment, biodegradation parameters are lightly constrained due to the absence of knowledge on exact chemicals biodegradability (Norling et al, 2022). Brakstad et al. (2018) noted that the biodegradability of nitramines is compound-specific, and that the hydroxyl group is more prone to biodegradation than the nitroso-and nitro-substituents. This means that different nitramines may have different rates of biodegradation, and this can affect their environmental fate and potential impacts. Hence, further research is needed to understand the biodegradation rates of nitramines under different environmental conditions, including different soil types, ground or lake water sideways assessment for the influence of bacterial communities and temperature are well-thought-out aspects of research. This information could be used to improve

SCOPE	Document	Deliverable D3.2	
	Issue date	15 Feb 2023	
	Dissemination level	Public	

the accuracy of atmospheric dispersion modelling, which is used to predict the concentrations of nitramines in the environment.

Eide-Haugmo et al. (2009) tested the biodegradability of 42 compounds in the marine environment, including several solvents frequently used for carbon capture. They found that some of these solvents such as piperazine, N-methyldiethanolamine and 2-amino-2-methylpropanol showed low biodegradability. Tertiary amines and mixtures containing quaternary carbon did not breakdown readily, whereas the amino acids had low toxicity and high biodegradation potential. The EPI Suite[™] was used to envisage the biodegradability and ecotoxicity of the compounds tested. The predictions for biodegradability solitary showed agreement with the experimental results.

Hauser et al. (2013) demonstrated the effectiveness of a pre-denitrification biofilm system in removing nitrogen and organic matter from reclaimer waste of a monoethanolamine (MEA)-based CO₂ capture plant. The reclaimer waste in this study contained MEA and other contaminants, including N- (2- hydroxylethyl) glycine and 2-hydroxyethylformamide. In the biofilm system, the MEA was readily hydrolysed to ammonia and the organic intermediates were further oxidised, resulting int he removal of 98% MEA and 72% total nitrogen. The system had a hydraulic retention time of 7 hours. This study highlights the potential for using biofilm systems to treat the waste generated from CO₂ capture processes and remove contaminants that could potentially have negative impacts on the environment.

The feasibility of biological nitrogen removal of amines used in post-combustion capture plants has been tested in a moving bed biofilm reactor (MBBR) in pre-denitrification mode by Henry et al. (2017) in aerobic as well as anaerobic conditions. They tested nine different amine samples, including monoethanolamine (MEA) and reclaimer waste, using a new anoxic batch screening test in syringes. The results showed that amine, MEA, and reclaimer waste were slowly degradable under anoxic conditions. However, AMP, DEEA and MDEA remained undegraded under the current anoxic conditions. It seems that biodegradation was more effective in fresh water than in other conditions. This research may have implications for the treatment of wastewater containing these amines in post-combustion capture plants.



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

4 Knowledge gaps and research needs

It becomes quite evident from the above reviews and discussion that although PCCC plants offer a good option for CO₂ removal from atmospheric emissions, thus addressing the climate change problem to some extent, the associated amine emissions and their potential impacts on aquatic and terrestrial life and on the ecosystems as a whole require more rigorous studies and development of understanding. Most of the studies on amine toxicity have been carried out in temperate countries and little information is available for tropical countries. The studies have indicated that biodegradation is largely influenced by temperature, inoculum, water and soil environment, and the type of amine. Thus, more research on biodegradation rates under different environmental settings to signify soil, ground water and lake water conditions are required. Furthermore, the influence of native bacterial communities and temperature may prove key in affecting the fate of such emissions, and thus an important aspect of further research. Successful application of microbial biofilms for removal of amines will also be influenced by the bacterial communities harbouring different ecological habitats in different geographic locations. The inadequacy of toxicological data regarding amine and amine degradation products' impacts on aquatic organisms is a major constraint on the development of regulatory water quality criteria. In this context, future research needs include the following:

- Establish appropriate toxicity assays for nitramines and nitrosamines.
- Study the effect of amines on more groups of micro- and macro-organisms in order to understand the overall impact on ecosystems.
- Study the enzymatic activities or self defence mechanisms that are developed by various flora and fauna species against these derivatives of amines.
- Evaluate the effects on vegetation from direct and indirect exposures associated to nitrogen eutrophication from different amine solvents and find critical load concentrations at which they will affect the environment.
- Analyse the degradation rate and nutrient cycling for amines in the soil system in order to clarify the end-products accessible for vegetation and soil fauna.
- Assess direct detrimental effects on soil fauna by primary amine exposures and indirect effects owing to likely variations in vegetation and soil properties.
- Perform eco-toxicological tests on certain terrestrial fauna in precise laboratorial environments by using appropriate doses of amines and study degradation end-products.
- Further investigations to identify the metabolic products during biodegradation of nitrosamines like NDELA.
- Investigate the fate of nitrosamines precipitated in a catchment area and the subsequent impacts on its water systems.
- Compare photochemical degradation and biodegradation of nitrosamines in water during summer and winter periods.



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

5 Conclusions

An amine-based capture facility directly benefits the environment by reducing air pollution and carbon dioxide emissions. Several mixtures of amines used for absorbing the carbon dioxide, however, may have health repercussions and ecological impacts. Not enough is known about the environmental risks associated with using amines to extract CO₂. The research that is currently available demonstrates that various amines and their degradation products may have detrimental impacts on human health and surrounding biota.

Additionally, amines have been found to show toxic effects on some test animals and aquatic algae and microbes. Though sufficient systematic studies have not been carried out, amines have the potential for eutrophication and acidification of marine ecosystems.

To date, MEA is the amine most often utilised in CO₂ separation processes. MEA has a relatively high biodegradability, and MEA by itself will not have a negative impact on the health of people, animals, plants, or aquatic organisms. However, eutrophication and acidification can result from the nitrogen and ammonia that are released into the air because of amine breakdown. In comparison to MEA, other amines such as AMP, MDEA, and PIPA, are ecotoxicologically hazardous and have a low rate of biodegradation.

As soon as amines are released from a CO₂ capture plant, they begin to break down into other compounds. The different degradation products include amides, nitramines, and aldehydes, do not harm the environment. Nitrosamines are likely to be the breakdown products with the worst consequences on the environment since they may cause cancer, contaminate drinking water, and harm aquatic organisms.

To construct and run amine-based CO₂ capture facilities without posing any dangers to human health or the terrestrial and aquatic environment, more research must be conducted once the risks have been recognised. These studies must explain how the risks may be addressed. Furthermore, in order to better understand the toxicity of the different amine group of compounds, families of plant, animal and microbes species should be considered as test targets under diverse conditions.



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

References

AARRESTAD, P. A., & GJERSHAUG, J. O. 2009. Effects on terrestrial vegetation, soil and fauna of amines and possible degradation products relevant for CO₂ capture. A review. *Norwegian Institute for Nature Research (NILU) OR, NO-7485 Trondheim, Norway*, 1-28.

ANGOVE, D., AZZI, M., TIBBETT, A., & CAMPBELL, I. 2012. An investigation into the photochemistry of monoethanolamine (MEA) in NOx. ACS Symposium Series, 1097, 265–273.

ALIBAUD, R., BONTOUX, J., RAMBAUD, A., LAUTIER, J., CHANAL, J.L., 1985. Toxicokinetic and metabolic study of dimethylnitrosamine and diethylnitrosamine in crayfish Austropotamobius pallipes. *Xenobiotica*. 15:1103-1110.

SHAO, R., & STANGELAND, A. 2009. Amines used in CO₂ capture-health and environmental impacts. *Bellona report*, *49*, 1-49.

BALCH, W. M. 1985. Lack of an effect of light on methylamine uptake by phytoplankton. *Limnology and Oceanography*, *30*(3), 665–674. h

BENTLEY, R. E., LEBLANC, G. A., HOLLISTER, T. A., & SLEIGHT, B. H. 1977. Acute toxicity of 1, 3, 5, 7tetranitrooctahydro-1, 3, 5, 7-tetrazocine (HMX) to aquatic organisms. Défense Technical Information Centre OAI-PMH Repository (US) EG AND G BIONOMICS WAREHAM MA.

BERGMANN, H., ECKERT, H., & MEISGEIER, G. 1990. Effect of monoethanolamine on yield and water use efficiency of spring barley. *Zeitschrift für Pflanzenernährung und Bodenkunde*, *153*(1), 21-24.

BIENIARZ, K., EPLER, P., KIME, D., SOKOLOWSKA-MIKOLAJCZYK, M., POPEK, W., & MIKOLAJCZYK, T. 1996. Effects of N, N-Dimethylnitrosamine (DMNA) on In vitro Oocyte Maturation and Embryonic Development of Fertilized Eggs of Carp (Cyprinus carpio L.) Kept in Eutrophied Ponds. *Journal of applied toxicology*, *16*(2), 153-156.

BRIDIE, A. L., WOLFF, C. J. M., & WINTER, M. 1979. The acute toxicity of some petrochemicals to goldfish. *Water Research*, *13*(7), 623-626.

BOOTH, A., DA SILVA, E. F., & BRAKSTAD, O. G. 2011. Environmental impacts of amines and their degradation products: Current status and knowledge gaps. In *1st Post Combustion Capture Conference SINTEF Materials and Chemistry*, 7465, Trondheim, Norway.

BRAKSTAD, O. G., & ZAHLSEN, K. 2011. Biodegradation of nitrosamines in water. Biodegradation studies at low nitrosamine concentrations. *SINTEF Materials and Chemistry Marine Environmental Technology: Trondheim.*, 1-24.



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

Dye, C., Fjellsbø, L. M. B., & Dusinska, M. 2011. Nitramine analysis procedures development and screening toxicity study. *Kjeller, Norwegian institute for air research (NILU OR 15/2011)*.

BRAKSTAD, O. G., SØRENSEN, L., ZAHLSEN, K., BONAUNET, K., HYLDBAKK, A., & BOOTH, A. M. 2018. Biotransformation in water and soil of nitrosamines and nitramines potentially generated from aminebased CO₂ capture technology. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, *70*, 157-163.

BRINGMANN, G., KUHN, R., WINTER, A. 1980. Determination of biological damage from water pollutants to protozoa. III. Saprozoic flagellates. *Z. Wasser-Abwasser-Forsch.* 13(5):170-173.

BRINGMANN, G. AND KUHN, R. 1977. Results of the damaging effects of water pollutants on Daphnia magna. *Zeitschrift fuer Wasser und Abwasser Forschung*, *10*, 161-165.

BRINGMANN, G. & KÜHN, R. 1978. Testing of substances for their toxicity threshold: Model organisms Microcystis (Diplocystis) aeruginosa and Scenedesmus quadricauda: With 1 table in the text. *Internationale Vereinigung für Theoretische und Angewandte Limnologie: Mitteilungen*, *21*(1), 275-284.

BRINGMANN, G. & KÜHN, R, 1980. Comparison of the toxicity thresholds of water pollutants to bacteria, algae, and protozoa in the cell multiplication inhibition test. *Water Research*, 14(3):231-241.

BRINGMANN, G., KÜHN, R., WINTER, A., 1980. Determination of biological damage from water pollutants to protozoa. III. Saprozoic flagellates. *Z. Wasser-Abwasser-Forsch*. 13(5):170-173.

BROOKS, S. 2008. The toxicity of selected amines and secondary products to aquatic organisms: A review. *Norwegian Institute for Water Research*, *5698*, 25-32.

BUIST, H. E., DEVITO, S., GOLDBOHM, R. A., STIERUM, R. H., VENHORST, J., & KROESE, E. D. 2015. Hazard assessment of nitrosamine and nitramine by-products of amine-based CCS: Alternative approaches. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, *71*(3), 601-623.

BURTON, D. T., TURLEY, S. D., & PETERS, G. T. (1994). The acute and chronic toxicity of hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX) to the fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas). *Chemosphere*, 29(3), 567–579.

CHOI, W., KIM, G., & LEE, K. 2012. Influence of the CO 2 absorbent monoethanolamine on growth and carbon fixation by the green alga Scenedesmus sp. *Bioresource Technology*, *120*, 295–299.

COUTRIS, C., MACKEN, A.L., COLLINS, A.R., EL YAMANI, N. & BROOKS, S.J. 2015. Marine ecotoxicity of nitramines, transformation products of amine-based carbon capture technology. *Science of the Total Environment*. 527-528: 211-219.

Draper III, A. C., & Brewer, W. S. 1979. Measurement of the aquatic toxicity of volatile nitrosamines. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A Current Issues*, *5*(6), 985-993.



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

DONG, C., HUANG, G., CHENG, G., AN, C., YAO, Y., CHEN, X., & CHEN, J. 2019. Wastewater treatment in amine-based carbon capture. *Chemosphere*, *222*, 742-756.

DOUGLAS, T. A., JOHNSON, L., WALSH, M., & COLLINS, C. (2009). A time series investigation of the stability of nitramine and nitroaromatic explosives in surface water samples at ambient temperature. *Chemosphere*, *76*(1), 1–8.

DRAPER III, A. C., & BREWER, W. S. 1979. Measurement of the aquatic toxicity of volatile nitrosamines. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A Current Issues*, *5*(6), 985-993.

ECOLOGY CENTER US 2022 https://www.ecologycenter.us

EIDE-HAUGMOA, I., BRAKSTADB, O.G., HOFFB, K.A., SØRHEIMB, K.R., DA SILVAB, E.F. AND SVENDSENA, F.A. 2009 Environmental impact of amines. *Energy Procedia* 1 :1297–1304.

ECKERT, H., BERGMANN, H., & REISSMANN, P. 1988. Uptake and translocation of [14C]-monoethanolamine in barley plants. *Biochemie und Physiologie der Pflanzen*, *183*(1), 27-36.

ECKERT, H., REISSMANN, P. & BERGMANN, H. 1988 Metabolism of [C-14] monoethanolamine in Hordeum vulgare. *Biochemie Physiologie der Pfanzen.*, 183(1), 15-25.

ENVIRONMENTAL STUDIES BY CLIMIT-PROGRAM: <u>http://www.climit.no/infocenter-2/environmental-studies/</u>

U.S. EPA. Air Quality Criteria for Particulate Matter (Final Report, 2004). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, EPA 600/P-99/002aF-bF, 2004.

ERBES, M., WESSLER, A., OBST, U., & WILD, A. 1997. Detection of primary DNA damage in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii by means of modified microgel electrophoresis. *Environmental and molecular mutagenesis*, *30*(4), 448-458.

FERRARO, L.A., WOLKE, R.E., YEVICH, P.P., 1977. Acute toxicity of water-borne dimethylnitrosamine (DMN) to Fundulus heteroclitus (L). *Journal of Fish Biology*, 10(3), 203-209.

FECKOVÁ, J., PAČUTA, V., & ČERNÝ, I. 2005. Effect of foliar preparations and variety on sugar beet yield and quality. *Journal of Central European Agriculture*, 6(3), 295-308.

GARSIN, D. A. (2010). Phosphatidylethanolamine is an abundant phospholipid in both mammalian and bac-terial cell membranes. *Nature Publishing Group*, *8*(Box 1).

GJERNES, E., HELGESEN, L.I. & MAREE, Y. 2013. Health and environmental impact of amine-based post combustion CO₂ capture. *Energy Procedia*, 37:735-742.



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

GRIECO, M. P., HENDRICKS, J. D., SCANLAN, R. A., SINNHUBER, R. O., & PIERCE, D. A. 1978. Carcinogenicity and acute toxicity of dimethylnitrosamine in rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri). *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *60*(5), 1127-1131.

GONG, P., SUNAHARA, G. I., ROCHELEAU, S., DODARD, S. G., ROBIDOUX, P. Y., & HAWARI, J. 2004. Preliminary ecotoxicological characterization of a new energetic substance, CL-20. *Chemosphere*, *56*(7), 653-658.

GROTH, G., SCHREEB, K., HERDT, V., & FREUNDT, K. J. 1993. Toxicity studies in fertilized zebrafish eggs treated with N-methylamine, N, N-dimethylamine, 2-aminoethanol, isopropylamine, aniline, N-methylaniline, N, N-dimethylaniline, quinone, chloroacetaldehyde, or cyclohexanol. *Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology*, *50*(6), 878-882.

GUNDERSEN, C.B., ANDERSEN, T., LINDAHL, S., LINKE, D. AND VOGT, R.D. 2014. Bacterial response from exposure to selected aliphatic nitramines, *Energy Procedia*, 63: 791-800.

GUNDERSEN, C. B., BREEDVELD, G. D., FOSEID, L., & VOGT, R. D. 2017. Soil sorption of two nitramines derived from amine-based CO 2 capture. *Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts*, *19*(6), 812-821.

GUNDERSEN, C.B., ANDERSEN, T., VOGT, R.D., ALLISON, S.D., 2018. Growth response of environmental bacteria under exposure to nitramines from CO₂-capture, *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 79: 248-251.

GUNNISON, D., ZAPPI, M. E., TEETER, C., PENNINGTON, J. C., & BAJPAI, R. 2000. Attenuation mechanisms of N-nitrosodimethylamine at an operating intercept and treat groundwater remediation system. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, *73*(2), 179-197.

HIATT, R.W., NAUGHTON J.J., MATTHEWS D.C., 1953. Effects of chemicals on a schooling fish, Kuhlia sandvicensis. *Biological Bulletin*, 104(1),28-44.

HALEY, M., KURNAS, C., CHESTER, N., ANTHONY, J., KUPERMAN, R., & CHECKAI, R. 2003. Aquatic ecotoxicity of the new energetic material CL-20: Preliminary results. In US Army Edgewood Chemical Biological Center, Aberdeen Proving Grounds (APG), MD, Presented at the 24th Annual Meeting of the Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC).

HALEY, M. V., ANTHONY, J. S., DAVIS, E. A., KURNAS, C. W., KUPERMAN, R. G., & CHECKAI, R. T. 2007. *Toxicity of the cyclic nitramine energetic material CL-20 to aquatic receptors*. Edgewood Chemical Biological Centre Aberdeen Proving Ground MD.

HARSHBARGER, J. C., CANTWELL, G. E., & STANTON, M. F. 1971. Effects of N-nitrosodimethylamine on the crayfish, Procambarus clarkii. In: Proceedings of the - Fourth International Colloauium on Insect Pathology, College Park, Maryland



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

HARVEY, S. D., FELLOWS, R. J., CATALDO, D. A., & BEAN, R. M. 1991. Fate of the explosive hexahydro-1, 3, 5-trinitro-1, 3, 5-triazine (RDX) in soil and bioaccumulation in bush bean hydroponic plants. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal*, *10*(7), 845-855.

HAUSER, I., EINBU A., ØSTGAARD, K., SVENDSEN, H.F., CERVANTES, F.J. 2013. Biodegradation of amine waste generated from post-combustion CO₂ capture in a moving bed biofilm treatment system. *Biotechnol Letters*. 35(2):219-24.

HENRY, I., KOWARZ, V. AND ØSTGAARD, K. (2017) Aerobic and anoxic biodegradability of amines applied in CO₂-capture. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 58:266-275.

HOVATTER, P. S., TALMAGE, S. S., OPRESKO, D. M., & ROSS, R. H. 1997. Ecotoxicity of nitroaromatics to aquatic and terrestrial species at army superfund sites. In *Environmental Toxicology and Risk Assessment: Modeling and Risk Assessment Sixth Volume*. ASTM International.

HAZON, N., WELLS, A., PILLANS, R. D., GOOD, J. P., ANDERSON, W. G., & FRANKLIN, C. E. 2003. Urea based osmoregulation and endocrine control in elasmobranch fish with special reference to euryhalinity. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - B Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, *136*(4), 685–700.

JUHNKE, I., & LUEDEMANN, D. 1978. Results of the investigation of 200 chemical compounds for acute fish toxicity with the golden orfe test. *Journal of Water and Wastewater Research*, *11*, 161-164.

KARL, M., CASTELL, N., SIMPSON, D., SOLBERG, S., STARRFELT, J., SVENDBY, T., WALKER, S.-E. AND WRIGHT, R.F. 2014. Uncertainties in assessing the environmental impact of amine emissions from a CO₂ capture plant. *Atmospheric Chemistry Physics*, 14(16), 8533–8557.

KARL M, BROOKS S., WRIGHT R., KNUDSEN S. 2008. Amines Worst-Case Studies Worst-Case Studies on Amine Emissions from CO₂ Capture Plants. NILU OR 78/2008.

KLOPPENBURG, D. J. AND HALL, J. C. 1990A. Penetration of clopyralid and related weak acid herbicides into and through isolated cuticular membranes of Euonymus fortunei. *Weed Research*, 30(6), 431-438.

KLOPPENBURG, D. J. AND HALL, J. C. 1990B. Efficacy of 5 different formulations of clopyralid on Cirsium arvense (L.) Scop, and Polygonum convolvulus L. *Weed Research*, 30 :227-234.

KOGAN, M. J., KRISTOFF, G., BENAVIDES, M. P. AND TOMARO, M. L. (2000) Effect of pre-treatment with ethanolamine on the response of Helianthus annuus L-to salt stress. *Plant Growth Regulation, 30(1),* 87-94.

KREBS F, 1991. Bestimmung der biologischen Schadwirkung Wassergefahrdender Stoffe im Assimilations-Zehrungs-Test (A-Z-Test). Deutsche Gewasserkundliche Mitteilungen 35(5/6):161-170.

LE BLANC GA, SURPRENANT DC, 1983. The acute and chronic toxicity of acetone, dimethyl formamide, and triethylene glycol to Daphnia magna (Straus). *Journal Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 12 (3), 305-310.



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

LEE, C., CHOI, W., KIM, Y. G., & YOON, J. 2005. UV photolytic mechanism of N-nitrosodimethylamine in water: Dual pathways to methylamine versus dimethylamine. *Environmental Science and Technology*, *39*(7), 2101–2106.

LEE, D. Y., & WEXLER, A. S. 2013. Atmospheric amines - Part III: Photochemistry and toxicity. *Atmospheric Environment*, *71*(3), 95–103.

LEPAUMIER, H., DA SILVA, E.F., EINBU, A., GRIMSTVEDT, A., KNUDSEN, J.N., ZAHLSEN, AND SVENDSEN, K.H.F. (2011) Comparison of MEA degradation in pilot-scale with lab-scale experiments, *Energy Proceedings*, 4:1652-1659.

LIBRALATO, G., GHIRARDINI, A. V., & AVEZZÙ, F. 2008. Evaporation and air-stripping to assess and reduce ethanolamines toxicity in oily wastewater. *Journal of hazardous materials*, *153*(3), 928-936.

LOEB, H. A., & KELLY, W. H. 1963. Acute Oral Toxicity of 1,496 Chemicals Force-Fed to Carp. US Department of the interior, Bureau of Commercial Fisheries *471*, 124.

MASCHER, R., FISCHER, S., SCHEIDING, W., NEAGOE, A., & BERGMANN, H. 2005. Exogenous 2aminoethanol can diminish paraquat induced oxidative stress in barley (Hordeum vulgare L.). *Plant Growth Regulation*, 45(2), 103-112.

MAYER, F. L., & ELLERSIECK, M. R. 1986. *Manual of acute toxicity: interpretation and data base for 410 chemicals and 66 species of freshwater animals* (No. 160). US Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service.

PORTMANN, J.E., & K.W. WILSON 1971. The Toxicity of 140 Substances to the Brown Shrimp and Other Marine Animals. Shellfish Information Leaflet No.22 (2nd Ed.), Ministry of Agric.Fish.Food, Fish.Lab.Burnham-on-Crouch, Essex, and Fish Exp.Station Conway, North Wales :12 p.

MUKHI, S., PAN, X., COBB, G. P., & PATIÑO, R. 2005. Toxicity of hexahydro-1, 3, 5-trinitro-1, 3, 5-triazine to larval zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Chemosphere*, *61*(2), 178-185.

Mukhi, S., & Patiño, R. 2008. Effects of hexahydro-1, 3, 5-trinitro-1, 3, 5-triazine (RDX) in zebrafish: general and reproductive toxicity. *Chemosphere*, 72(5), 726-732.

Nielsen, C. J., Herrmann, H., & Weller, C. 2012. Atmospheric chemistry and environmental impact of the use of amines in carbon capture and storage (CCS). *Chemical Society Reviews*, *41*(19), 6684–6704.

NORLING, M.D., CLAYER, F., GUNDERSEN, C.B. 2022. Levels of nitramines and nitrosamines in lake drinking water close to a CO₂ capture plant: A modelling perspective, *Environmental Research*, 212:113581.

NURROKHMAH, L., MEZHER, T., ABU-ZAHRA, M.R. 2013. Evaluation of handling and reuse approaches for the waste generated from MEA-based CO₂ capture with the consideration of regulations in the UAE, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 47 (23): 13644-13



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

PITTS, J. N., GROSJEAN, D., CAUWENBERGHE, K. VAN, SCHMID, J. P., & FITZ, D. R. 1978. Photooxidation of Aliphatic Amines Under Simulated Atmospheric Conditions: Formation of Nitrosamines, Nitramines, Amides, and Photochemical Oxidant. *Environmental Science and Technology*, *12*(8), 946–953.

PETERS, G.T., BURTON, D.T., PAULSON, R.L. AND TURLEY, S.D. 1991. The acute and chronic toxicity of Hexahydro-1,3,5-Trinitro-1,3,5-Triazine (RDX) to three freshwater invertebrates. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 10:(8)1073-1081.

POSTE, A. E., GRUNG, M., & WRIGHT, R. F. 2014. Amines and amine-related compounds in surface waters: A review of sources, concentrations and aquatic toxicity. *Science of the Total Environment*, *481*(1), 274–279.

ROSENA G, LOTUFO GR, 2007. Toxicity of explosive compounds to the marine mussel, Mytilus galloprovincialis, in aqueous exposures. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. 68:(2)228-236.

RUSIN, A., & STOLECKA, K. 2016. An Analysis of Hazards Caused by Emissions of Amines from Carbon Dioxide Capture Installations. 25(3), 909–916.

SIMINI, M., ROWLAND, R., LEE, E. H., & WENTSEL, R. W. 1992. Detection of stress in Cucumis sativus exposed to RDX using chlorophyll fluorescence. In *13th Annual Meeting. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, Cincinnati, OH*.

SINTEF REPORT, 2007. Ecotoxicity testing of amines and relevance to acceptance criteria for discharges to marine environments. SINTEF Materials and Chemistry 21p.

KREBS F, 1991. Bestimmung der biologischen Schadwirkung Wassergefahrdender Stoffe im Assimilations-Zehrungs-Test (A-Z-Test). *Deutsche Gewasserkundliche Mitteilungen*, 35(5/6):161-170.

SIHTMÄE, M., MORTIMER, M., KAHRU, A., & BLINOVA, I. 2010. Toxicity of five anilines to crustaceans, protozoa and bacteria. *Journal of the Serbian Chemical Society*, 75(9), 1291–1302.

SCHAEFER, C. E., FULLER, M. E., CONDEE, C. W., LOWEY, J. M., & HATZINGER, P. B. 2007. Comparison of biotic and abiotic treatment approaches for co-mingled perchlorate, nitrate, and nitramine explosives in groundwater. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, *89*(3–4), 231–250.

SØRENSEN, L., SILVA, E.F. DA, BRAKSTAD, O.G., ZAHLSEN, K. AND BOOTH, A. 2013. Preliminary Studies into the Environmental Fate of Nitrosamine and Nitramine Compounds in Aquatic Systems. *Energy Procedia*, 37:683 – 690.

BROOKS, S., & WRIGHT, R. 2008. The toxicity of selected primary amines and secondary products aquatic organisms: A review.

US EPA 1978. In-depth studies on health and environmental impacts of selected water pollutants. Contract No. 68-01-4646, U. S. EPA, Duluth, MN.



Document	Deliverable D3.2
Issue date	15 Feb 2023
Dissemination level	Public

VERSCHUEREN, K. 1996. 1, 2-Dichloroethane (CASRN: 107-06-2). Handbook of environmental data on organic chemicals, 963-965.

VERSCHUEREN, K. 2001. *Handbook of environmental data on organic chemicals: Vol. 1* (No. Ed. 4). John Wiley and Sons, Inc.

WALLEN, I. E., GREER, W. C., & LASATER, R. 1957. Toxicity to "Gambusia Affinis" of Certain Pure Chemicals in Turbid Waters. *Sewage and Industrial Wastes*, *29*(6), 695–711.

WAGNER, E.D., OSIOL, J., MITCH, W.A., MICHAEL, J. P. 2014. Comparative in vitro toxicity of nitrosamines and nitramines associated with amines-based carbon capture and storage. Environ Sci Technol. 15;48(14):8203-11. WEB LINK 1. <u>http://www.ethyleneamines.com/NR/rdonlyres/0F711045-D7C1-4979-8286-</u>

032FF5C01636/0/PIP Anh.pdf

WEB LINK 2. http://www.jtbaker.com/msds/englishhtml/a4572.h

Z. RAPPOPORT, Patai series, The Chemistry of Anilines, Wiley, 2007, 1180.